IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC07-2175

Lower Tribunal No.: 91-19140-CF10A

ROBERT CONSALVO vs. STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellant

Appellee

On appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida:

Trial Court's denial of mitochondrial DNA testing a pending claim raised under Rules 3.850 and 3.851.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

[This brief is filed on behalf of Appellant, ROBERT CONSALVO]

Ira W. Still, I.I.I

IRA W. STILL, III, ESQUIRE Attorney for Appellant 148 SW 97th Terrace Coral Springs, FL 33071 OFFICE: (305)303-0853 FAX: (954)827-0151 EMAIL: aistill@bellsouth.net Florida Bar No.: 0169746

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant was the defendant in the court below. The Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this The symbol "ROA" will be used to designate the record on Court. this appeal, volumes 1 through 7. The symbol "SOA" will be used to designate the supplemental record of this collateral appeal, volumes 1 through 5. The symbol "R" will be used to designate the original record of the trial and direct appeal. The symbol "SR" will be used to designate the original supplemental record of the trial and direct appeal. The symbol "PCR" will be used to designate the record of the postconviction first collateral appeal [on all claims except for claim 5 that is the subject of this appeal]. All emphasis has been supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The judgment of conviction under attack was rendered by the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida, the Honorable Howard M. Zeidwig presiding as Circuit Judge throughout the guilt phase, penalty phase and sentencing hearing. The date that the judgment of conviction and imposition of the death sentence were rendered in the trial court was November 17, 1993 [R 3771-3781].

The length of the sentence imposed on count I (first degree murder) is a death sentence [R 3771-3773] and the length of the sentence imposed on count II (armed burglary) is a habitual

felony offender life sentence imposed consecutive to the sentence in count I [R 3774-3776].

The appellant, ROBERT CONSALVO, is currently a state prisoner incarcerated at Union Correctional Institution in Union County, Florida. He is in the custody of Hon. Walter A. McNeil, Secretary, Florida Department of Corrections. His prison number is 941687.

On October 23, 1991, the appellant was indicted by a Broward County, Florida Grand Jury and charged with felony crimes in count I "Murder One" and in count II "Armed Burglary" [R 3343].

The offenses occurred sometime between September 27, 1991, and October 3, 1991, in Coconut Creek, Broward County, Florida [R 3343]. On October 29, 1991, the appellant entered a plea of not guilty to all counts of the Indictment [SR 3].

Trial of the appellant was by jury. The guilt phase of said trial commenced on January 19, 1993, and the jury returned a verdict of guilt on both counts I and II on February 11, 1993 [R 2719-2720].

The penalty phase commenced on March 19, 1993, and the jury returned its recommendation of the death penalty (by majority vote of eleven to one) on March 25, 1993 [R 3708, 3117].

The trial court held the sentencing hearing on November 17, 1993 [R 3263-3318] and, following the recommendation of the jury, the trial court entered a written sentencing order [R 3751-3768], judgment [R 3769-3780] and disposition [R 3781] on November 17, 1993.

The appellant did not testify at the guilt phase of the trial nor did he testify at the penalty phase of the trial. Likewise, he did not testify (or make any statement) at any pretrial hearing, post trial hearing or sentencing hearing.

The appellant appealed from the judgments of conviction. After the timely filing of a notice of appeal on November 22, 1993 [R 3782-3783], there was a direct appeal of the judgments and sentences to the Supreme Court of Florida in Case No. 82,780. The appeal was denied and the appellant's judgments and sentences were affirmed on October 3, 1996. See **Consalvo v. State**, 697 So.2d 805 (Fla. 1996). Rehearing was denied on July 17, 1997, and on October 16, 1997. The mandate, amended mandate and second amended mandate were all issued on November 17, 1997.

The appellant then filed a timely petition for writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court of the United States (Case No. 97-8148) which was denied on May 4, 1998. The direct appeal, the petition for writ of certiorari, and the second amended motion for postconviction and/or collateral relief constitute all of the postconviction proceedings filed on behalf of the appellant to date. The subject of this appeal stems from Claim 5 [DNA testing of hair/fiber evidence found on the body of, and foreign to, the victim during the crime scene investigation] of the second amended motion for postconviction and/or collateral relief. Claim 5 was still pending when the appeal was filed and could not be completed in the trial court during the period of ouster of jurisdiction. That has been finally determined by the trial court and is the basis of this appeal.

On the first collateral appeal of the second amended motion for postconviction and/or collateral relief, the Florida Supreme Court entered its mandate in case number SC04-520 on 05/18/2006. See **Consalvo v. State**, 937 So.2d 555 (Fla. 2006). A petition for writ of certiorari was filed and the Supreme Court of the United States denied it on March 19, 2007.

Thereafter, the issues relating to DNA testing were brought back to the trial court, which entered its final order denying Mitochondrial DNA (hereinafter referred to as "mtDNA") testing on October 17, 2007 [ROA, vol.2, pp. 368-380]. That final order denying mtDNA testing, including all of what was raised under claim 5 of the second amended motion for postconviction and/or collateral relief and the proceedings in the trial court (concerning that one issue arising under claim 5) that stretched from March 7, 2001, to October 17, 2007, is appealed to the Florida Supreme Court by filing appellant's notice of appeal on November 13, 2007 [ROA vol. 3, pp. 434-435].

This appeal concerns only the issues arising under Claim 5 of appellant's second amended motion for postconviction relief and the pleadings, hearings and evidence relating solely to the trial court's granting DNA testing and thereafter its reversal denying mtDNA testing.

The appellant's present court appointed counsel is Ira Still, Esq. who was appointed on July 27, 1998. The appellant was represented at trial by Jeffrey Glass, Esq. (special public defender). He was represented on direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida and in the Supreme Court of the United States by

the Hon. Richard L. Jorandby, Public Defender, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, and members of his staff including Jeffrey L. Anderson, Esq. No other attorneys have represented the defendant throughout these proceedings, although Linda McDermott, Esq. has recently taken over as counsel for the appellant on his federal habeas corpus claims.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 11, 1993, Robert Consalvo was convicted of armed burglary and first-degree murder of Lorraine Pezza [R 2719-2720]. He was thereafter sentenced to death by the trial court on November 17, 1993, following the jury recommendation by a vote of eleven to one [R 3263- 3318].

On September 27, 1991, the victim, Lorraine Pezza, hired a locksmith to change the locks on her apartment. Locksmith Robert Carroll worked at her apartment from approximately 10:00 a.m. to 11:00 a.m. [R 1139]. He was the last person to see the victim alive. Appellant lived with his mother, Jeanne Corropoli, in the apartment next door to the victim, Lorraine Pezza [R 1674 and 1678].

On October 3, 1991, appellant was arrested for the burglary of Myrna Walker's apartment [R 1236] that was situated downstairs from the victim's apartment [R1160-1165]. During the time that appellant was in custody on this charge, Officer Westberry kicked open Lorraine Pezza's apartment door [R 1357] and discovered her decomposing body lying in bed wrapped in several layers of sheets and blankets [R 1358].

The medical examiner, Dr. Wright, testified that the victim had been stabbed three times and sustained an additional five superficial puncture wounds [R 2076-2078]. The fatal wound was

to the left side of victim's chest into the heart. She was lying down when that wound was inflicted [R 2074-2076]. Dr. Wright testified that death had occurred between three to seven days prior to her discovery on October 3, 1991 [R 2067].

This Court has consistently delineated the facts of the case as set forth in *Consalvo v. State*, 697 So.2d 805 (Fla. 1996) and reiterated in *Consalvo v. State*, 937 So.2d 555 (Fla. 2006). Only the facts and procedural aspects most helpful to an understanding of the issues presently before the Court on this appeal are addressed below.

The trial court determined that appellant's claim V raised viable issues concerning the testing of certain items of crime scene evidence [PCR vol. 5, pp. 518-577; SOA vol. 3, pp. 1-60].

The police investigators collected certain hairs that were foreign to the victim during their crime scene investigation shortly after the murder in 1991. Detective Sergeant James Kammerer's crime scene investigation report dated 10/16/1991 [ROA vol. 2, p. 99], indicated the collection of items labeled "JK-1 to JK-5." These were hairs collected from the victim's hands, arms and near her feet. In 1991, DNA testing on hair and fiber had not developed scientifically to the point that it is presently. No method for extracting DNA from a hair shaft had been discovered at that time. Today, scientists have developed mitochondrial DNA testing techniques for hair [ROA vol. 4,

p.15].

The facts of this homicide case (as established at trial and set forth by this Court in its previous opinions on this case) appear to point to appellant as the sole culprit and murderer of Lorraine Pezza. However, the hair evidence that was found in and on her hands and wrapped up in the sheets encasing her corpse is highly relevant to the identity of the real This hair evidence tends to prove recent contact murderer. between the victim and a person present in the room at the time of her death and engaged in her final struggle for survival. Appellant raised this issue in Claim V of his second amended motion for postconviction and/or collateral relief [ROA vol. 1, p. 41] and litigated that issue from 03/07/2001 to the present Facts relating to the progress of that issue are appeal. indicated below.

On 10/16/1991, Det. Sgt. James Kammerer of the Broward Sheriff's Office (hereinafter called BSO) conducted "a Laser examination of the body for trace evidence" and collected certain items of hair fiber foreign to the victim and reduced his findings to writing in a police report [ROA vol. 1, p. 99] that indicates:

> After installing auxiliary lighting, the victim was initially examined for hairs and several were collected. The victim was then examined with the use of the portable argonion Laser resulting the collection of a single foreign fiber from the left hand.

> The following evidence was collected by this investigator:

JK-1	(1)	container	of	hairs	from	victi	m's
	right	c arm					
JK-2	(1)	container	of	hairs	from	victi	m's
		z hand					
JK-3	(1)	container	of	hairs	from	back	of
	vict	im's left h	land				
JK-4	(1)	container	of	hairs f	Erom b	ed she	eet
	near	victim's f	leet				
JK-5	(1)	fiber from	m vi	lctim's	left	hand	in
	plast	tic contair	ıer				

Det. Kammerer also directed the photographing of one of the victim's hands [ROA vol. 2, p. 367; and App. item 9] that was submitted into the record of the 08/02/2007 hearing in the trial court at which time argument for continued DNA testing in the form of mtDNA was heard [ROA vol. 2, p. 366; and Appendix item 9].

Appellant filed his second amended motion for postconviction and/or collateral relief on 03/07/2001 [ROA vol. 1, p. 41]. The asserting of Claim V, calling for delivery of the hair/fiber evidence to be tested by modern DNA methods, pre-dated the effective dates of both rule 3.853, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure (effective date 10/01/01), and Florida Statute 925.11 (effective date 10/01/01).

On 06/26/2001, ASA Carolyn McCann drafted a letter [App. item 2] indicating that the Broward State Attorney's Office was offering to perform DNA testing in appellant's case before the effective date of Florida Statute 925.11 and requested input on what items appellant wanted to have DNA tested. This was part of an overall Law Enforcement Initiative. Counsel for the Defense responded, by letter dated 07/20/2001, that he would travel to death row to confer with appellant as to how he wished to proceed

[App. item 3].

Counsel for the Defense wrote to ASA Carolyn McCann on 08/30/2001, indicating that appellant did want to conduct DNA testing with experts selected by him [App. item 4]. On 08/31/2001, the trial court conducted a hearing [PCR vol. 5, pp. 500-508; SOA vol. 2, pp. 1-9] at which time appellant affirmed his definite desire to conduct DNA testing and to move forward in testing the hair/fiber evidence. The trial court determined to address the DNA testing after it determined the *Huff* issues [PCR vol. 5, pp. 506; SOA vol. 2, p. 6].

In ASA Carolyn McCann's second letter On 09/04/2001, [App. item 5], it was affirmatively stated that testing under the Law Enforcement Initiative would only be done through the BSO Crime Lab as the "FDLE designated laboratory."

The trial court conducted a hearing on 12/10/2001 [PCR vol. 5, pp. 518-577; SOA vol. 3, pp. 1-60] at which time the Defense sought to push ahead with DNA testing of hair/fiber evidence arising under Claim V. The trial court did not want to entertain the issue at that time stating "And I'll address the other issue, the other request for the testing as soon as possible." [PCR vol. 5, pp. 574; SOA vol. 3, pp. 57].

The trial court held another hearing in on the DNA testing issue on 02/08/2002 [PCR vol. 5, pp. 578-601; SOA vol. 4, pp. 1-24]. At that hearing the trial court ruled that the Defense should be permitted to raise the issue of DNA testing and conduct that testing independently of the rest of the postconviction issues. The Court decided to go ahead with all of the other

issues raised in Claims I-IV for evidentiary hearing and heard argument on the remaining issues, except for that of the Claim V hair/fiber DNA testing issues. The trial court held that if DNA testing results raised an issue it would be preserved independently of the remaining *Huff* issues that were to be moved ahead without delay [PCR vol. 5, pp. 578; SOA vol. 4, p. 1].

Thereafter, on 03/07/2002, the trial court entered its first order granting defendant's motions for leave to conduct DNA testing on certain items of crime scene evidence including the hair/fiber [ROA vol. 1, p. 63]. The trial court held:

> The Defendant's motion for access to the evidence of: ...(b) fiber evidence (hair follicles), ... is GRANTED, with the provision that all evidence must be analyzed and tested under controlled conditions as established by Broward Sheriff's laboratory; and provided that any testing be conducted with representatives of the State and Defendant present (emphasis appears in the original).

In regard to the DNA testing issue, ASA Susan Bailey wrote a letter (dated 06/13/2002) to counsel for appellant regarding procedures necessary to conduct DNA testing through the BSO Crime Lab as required by the trial court in its order dated 3-11-02 and enclosed a copy of that order for the Defense [App. item 6]. A second letter dated 08/29/2002, from ASA Susan Bailey [App. item 7] suggested that the parties set a hearing in the trial court and subpoena Dr. George Duncan to discuss BSO lab testing on the hair/fiber evidence. That letter prompted the appellant to file a motion (on 09/25/2002) to review the prior ruling of the trial court in its order permitting the Defense to conduct Lab and DNA testing [SOA vol. 1, pp. 5-19]. By that motion, the Defense

requested the trial court to set a hearing to show cause why BSO Crime Lab has failed to comply with the 03/07/2002 order of the trial court (among other suggested remedies).

A hearing was set in the trial court for 11/15/2002 [ROA vol. 4, pp.1-29]. Dr. George Duncan of BSO Crime Lab was present with his counsel and interacted with the trial court and counsel to narrow down the type of STR DNA testing that he would perform and the conditions of overseeing the results [ROA vol. 4, pp.14-23]. BSO lab would conduct STR DNA testing on the hair root, a piece of flesh that might be attached to the collected hair shafts [ROA vol. 4, pp.14-15]. That root would be entirely consumed by BSO testing and none would be left for additional testing in order to check results by a Defense expert [ROA vol. 4, p. 16].

At that hearing, Dr. Duncan informed the trial court that mtDNA testing has been developed which could facilitate testing the hair shafts in this case. However, he advised that BSO Crime Lab is not able to perform mitochondrial DNA testing. Such DNA testing would have to be outsourced [ROA vol. 4, p. 15]. There was at least one suspect other than appellant to whom the Defense sought to compare DNA findings on the hair fibers. This was a person named DeAngelos and he had been convicted of over twentyfive burglaries in the area of victim's apartment during the time period of the murder in this case. The trial court considered him and stated "I will defer on DeAngelos. Let me see what the results (of the DNA testing) are." [ROA vol. 4, p. 25].

On 01/09/2003, the trial court entered its second order

(referred to as "amended order") granting defendant's motion for leave to test evidence by STR DNA testing at BSO labs [ROA vol. 1, pp. 96-98]. ASA Susan Bailey wrote to counsel for appellant on 01/24/2003, concerning arrangements to be made for obtaining "buccal" swabs from appellant on death row for comparison purposes in the DNA testing [App. item 8]. No further progress was made on this issue for a period of one year.

In March of 2004, Dr. George Duncan released his STR DNA written report and findings to the parties. This report was dated 01/24/2004 [ROA vol. 2, pp. 378-380]. In that report, Dr. Duncan states:

Possible hairs lacking a root were observed on items JK-1, JK-2, JK-3A, JK-3B, JK-3C, JK-3D, JK-3E, JK-3F, and JK-3G. These samples are not suitable for STR (DNA) testing, but may be suitable for mitochondrial DNA analysis. Contact the analyst for laboratories that perform this analysis [ROA vol. 2, p. 379].

The Defense filed a renewed motion for mtDNA testing based upon Dr. George Duncan's BSO Lab report findings on 04/08/2004 [SOA vol. 1, pp. 26-32]. The Sate filed its response on 05/06/2004 [ROA vol. 1, pp. 88-105]. A hearing was held 08/13/2004, in the trial court. At that hearing [ROA vol. 5, pp. 30-42], the trial court ruled that it did not have jurisdiction to consider anything further on the issue of DNA testing because the rest of the case was currently on (postconviction) appeal to the Florida Supreme Court. Nothing further could be considered until the high Court completed its proceedings and jurisdiction was once again relinquished to the trial court. On 12/02/2004,

the trial court entered a third order on Defense request for DNA testing that indicated no jurisdiction in the trial court at that time [ROA vol. 1, p. 136].

Once the trial court regained jurisdiction, a status hearing on the issue of mtDNA testing was held on 03/01/2007 [ROA vol. 6, pp. 43-54]. The only item resolved was to set another hearing and for the trial court to order a transcript of the 08/13/2004 hearing.

A hearing was held on 08/02/07 in the trial court [SOA vol. 5, pp. 1-46]. The trial court heard argument of the parties. The State argued that the Defense was not entitled to DNA testing as it had failed to show how the DNA testing results would likely affect the jury verdict of guilt. The Defense argued that the trial court had already granted testing in two prior orders and that a portion of the testing had already taken place but that the only issue was when, and how to proceed with mtDNA testing and to agree on a certified laboratory for outsourcing. Additionally, it is obvious that when two persons are engaged in a life and death struggle who are wrestling and fighting each other violently where the conquered would lay dead at the end, that this clutching and ripping contact between them would lead to the victim ripping arm or other body hair from her assailant such that whatever hairs are later found in her hands and on her body had to belong to the assailant/murderer (unless they were hers) as no one else was present.

By letter of the Defense to the Court, State and Clerk on 08/07/2007, the Defense supplemented the record with a color copy

of a crime scene photo showing the victim's closed hand in which hair/fiber evidence was found by BSO during its crime scene investigation [ROA vol. 2, pp. 366-367; App. item 9].

The trial court issued its order on 10/18/2007 denying the Defense the right to conduct mtDNA testing on the hair/fibers [ROA vol. 2, pp.368-380; App. item 1]. It is that final order, and the proceedings leading up to it, that is currently on appeal.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

Issue I:

Whether the trial court erred, after it had previously ruled that appellant was entitled the to DNA testing of hair/fiber crime scene evidence, by reversing its ruling years later to deny appellant the opportunity to perform mtDNA testing?

Issue II.

trial court Whether the erred in standard applying the wrong bv appellant requiring the to prove conclusively that the results of DNA testing would exonerate him in light of all of the other evidence in the case condition precedent to mtDNA as а testing?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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