IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC07-2175

#### ROBERT CONSALVO

#### APPELLANT

VS.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA

#### APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

\_\_\_\_\_

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0066631 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

The court shall make the following findings when ruling on the motion:

(A) Whether it has been shown that physical evidence that may contain DNA still exists.

(B) Whether the results of DNA testing of physical evidence likely that would be admissible at trial and whether there exists reliable proof to establish that the evidence containing the tested DNA is authentic and would be admissible at а future hearing.

(C) Whether there is a reasonable probability that the movant would have been acquitted or would have received a lesser sentence if the DNA evidence had been admitted at trial.

Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.853(c)(5) (emphasis added).

The clear requirement of these provisions is that a movant, in pleading the requirements of rule 3.853, must lay out with specificity how the DNA testing of each item requested to be tested would give rise to a reasonable probability of acquittal or a lesser sentence. In order for the trial court to make the required findings, the movant must demonstrate the nexus between the potential results of DNA testing on each piece of evidence and the issues in the case. Here, Hitchcock failed to demonstrate such a nexus.

With respect to the items listed in Hitchcock's motion, only a general reference and identification of the type of item was given, without any other relevant information. Rule 3.853 is not intended to be a fishing expedition. Rather, it is intended to provide a defendant with an opportunity for DNA testing of material not previously tested or of previously tested

material when the results of previous DNA testing were inconclusive and subsequent developments in DNA testing techniques would likely provide a definitive result, and when a motion for such testing provides a basis upon which a trial court can make the findings expressly set forth in subdivision (c)(5) of rule 3.853. It was Hitchcock's burden to explain, with reference to specific facts about the crime and the items he wished to have tested, " how the DNA testing requested by the motion will exonerate the movant of the crime for which the movant was sentenced, or ... will mitigate the sentence received by the movant for that crime." He has not met that burden. Therefore, we find no error in the circuit court ruling that "the motion fail[ed] to set forth the evidentiary value of the evidence to be tested or explain how the results would exonerate Defendant or mitigate his sentence."

Hitchcock, 866 So.2d at 27-28 (footnotes omitted). See Willacy v. State, 967 So.2d 131, 145 (Fla. 2007) (quoting Hitchcock and it is defendant's burden to set reaffirming forth with specificity how the DNA testing would give rise to a reasonable probability of acquittal or a lesser sentence and demonstrate a nexus between the items to be tested and the issues in the In Van Poyck v. State, 908 So.2d 326, 330 (Fla. 2005), case). this Court noted that the defendant had to show that there was a "reasonable probability" that the test results, if entered into evidence, would produce an acquittal or lesser sentence, and that this was the standard to order DNA testing.

Here, Consalvo's first request for DNA testing was not filed under Rule 3.853. Instead, it was a general request presented before the rule was put into place. Contemporaneously with that request, the Broward DNA Program was in effect sua

sponte offered DNA testing to capital defendants, but required that such be done by BSO Labs. Consalvo was offered this, and to an extent he agreed to such testing, except that he wanted an independent lab to do the testing. (DNA-R.1 63; SDNA-R.1 5-12, 20-23; SDNA-R.2 3; SDNA-R.3 34-36, 45). The trial court order testing by BSO Labs.

The trial court's comments during the <u>Huff</u> Hearing are significant given that the court made no findings in its March 7, 2002 permitting DNA testing; testing was order by BSO Labs without the court referencing or making finding consistent with the application of Rule 3.853. During the <u>Huff</u> hearing, the State reported that there had been no agreement by Consalvo to accept the gratuitous DNA testing offered under the Broward program and that Consalvo, now that Rule 3.853 was in effect, should have to comply with the pleading requirements of the rule. The court inquired: "Okay. What's the downside? What's the down side if I let him do it? What does it do? It perpetuates? Does it extend anything?" (SDNA-R.3 45).

The trial court later amended its initial order granting DNA testing by BSO Labs to include specific guidelines and other BSO Lab criteria to be met by the parties. (DNA-R.1 63; SDNA-R.1 20-23). BSO Labs was unable to obtain DNA results under the STR-testing, but suggested mt-DNA may be considered. This finding was obtained after the trial court had ruled on the

postconviction motion. Consalvo appealed that order before he filed a motion for mt-DNA testing; a motion which invoked §925.11, but failed to meet the pleading requirements of the statute or Rule 3.853.

Consalvo argues that he should not have been required to meet the pleading requirements of Rule 3.853, because his initial motion for testing was filed before the rule went into effect. However, this is a procedural rule and as such must be followed when filing a new motion.

The suggestion by Consalvo that collateral estoppel, stare decisis and/or res judicata somehow bar the trial court from applying Rule 3.853 to his motion for mt-DNA testing merely because the court allowed testing under a different theory originally is not persuasive. The United States Supreme Court in <u>Ashe v. Swenson</u>, 397 U.S. 436, 443 (1970), pointed out that "`[c]ollateral estoppel' ... means simply that when an issue of ultimate fact has once been <u>determined by a valid and final</u> judgment, that issue cannot again be litigated between the same parties in any future lawsuit." (emphasis supplied).

With respect to stare decisis, this Court has stated:

This Court adheres to the doctrine of stare decisis. See, e.g., Muhammad v. State, 782 So.2d 343, 365 n. 16 (Fla.2001); see also Tyson v. Mattair, 8 Fla. 107, 124 (1858) ("It is an established rule to abide by former precedents, stare decisis, where the same points come again in litigation, as well to keep the scale of justice even and steady, and not liable

to waver with every new judge's opinion....").FN2 Stare decisis bends where there has been a significant change in circumstances since the adoption of the legal rule, see Weiand v. State, 732 So.2d 1044, 1055 n. 12 (Fla. 1999), or where there has been an error in legal analysis. See State v. Gray, 654 So.2d 552, 554 (Fla.1995); see also Brown v. State, 719 So.2d 882, J., 998) 890 (Fla. (Wells, dissenting) ("[I]ntellectual honesty continues to demand that precedent be followed unless there has been a clear showing that the earlier decision was factually or legally erroneous or has not proven acceptable in actual practice.").

FN2. "The doctrine of stare decisis, or the obligation of a court to abide by its own precedent, is grounded on the need for stability in the law and has been a fundamental tenet of Anglo-American jurisprudence for centuries." <u>N. Fla. Women's Health & Counseling Servs., Inc. v. State</u>, 866 So.2d 612, 637 (Fla. 2003).

State v. J.P., 907 So.2d 1101, 1108-09 (Fla. 2004).

This Court recently discussed the doctrine of res judicata in relation to law of the case, stating:

> [T]he doctrines of the law of the case and res judicata differ in two important ways. First, law of the case applies only to proceedings within the same case, while res judicata applies to proceedings in different cases. Second, the law of the case doctrine is narrower in application in that it bars consideration only of those legal issues that were actually considered and decided in a former appeal, while res judicata bars relitigation in a subsequent case or action not only of claims raised, but also claims that could have been raised.

Florida Dep't of Transp. v. Juliano, 801 So.2d 101, 107 (Fla. 2001) (emphasis supplied) (citations omitted). Clearly, law of the case does not apply to Parker's claim in that, as the State admits, the issue of the admissibility of the May 7 statement was never

actually considered and decided by this Court in Parker's first appeal. Further, even if law of the applied, "[t]his Court has the case power to reconsider and correct erroneous rulings in exceptional circumstances and where reliance on the previous decision would result in manifest injustice." State v. Owen, 696 So.2d 715, 720 (Fla. 1997).

Parker v. State, 873 So.2d 270, 278 (Fla. 2004).

Of these doctrines, none applies to bar the trial court from considering a subsequent motion for a specific type of DNA testing under a rule enacted after the original motion was filed, but before the original order was granted or a subsequent motion referencing the new rule was filed. No appellate court had considered Consalvo's DNA request or reviewed his motion. Likewise, the doctrines do not bar the application of the rule where it was clear that the parties initially were considering this discovery issue outside the rules, if certain parameters could be met. Further, where there had not been an appellate review, as neither party appealed the order granting testing or the non-final order denying without prejudice the request for mt-DNA testing. For these reasons, Puryear v. State, 810 So.2d 901 (Fla. 2002); McBride v. State, 848 So.2d 287 (Fla. 2003); and Federated Department Stores, Inc. v. Motie, 452 U.S. 394 (1981) do not bar the trial court's application of Rule 3.853 to the mt-DNA request. The testing results were not obtained until after Consalvo had appealed. As such, there has been no appellate review of the matter, and the court was permitted to

revisit its rulings on the issue when raised by the parties at later date.

This is not an issue of failing to follow a valid and final judgment, failing to apply appellate precedent, or failing to follow an appellate decision made in the same case or between the same parties. The issue is whether a trial court can reconsider a discovery issue and apply a rule of procedure promulgated after the initial request was granted, but before an additional, modified request is made. Clearly, the trial court was well within is power to apply Rule 3.853 to the mt-DNA request when it had the motion before it once again, and there had been no appellate decision on the matter.

Contrary to Consalvo's representation, the State's May 6, 2004 objection to mt-DNA testing was not the first time that the State challenged the pleading sufficiency of the DNA request. Not only during the <u>Huff</u> hearing, but during the November 15, 2002 hearing the State objected that Consalvo had not shown that the DNA results would exonerate him. (DNA-R.4 3-4, 7, 9-14, 21-22, 24-25; SDNA-R.3 34-36) However, it is clear from Consalvo's initial motion, his argument at the November 15, 2002 hearing that the court need not question whether the DNA results would be exonerating, and his arguments here, that the rules were not applied to his initial DNA request.

The court's decision to grant DNA testing as a preliminary

discovery tool, or under the Broward DNA Program instead of under Rule 3.853 is even clearer, when considered in light of the fact the court's order granting testing is devoid of any findings regarding the exonerating nature of the items to be tested as well as the court's question during the Huff hearing in response to the State's argument that there was no showing of exoneration and required by the rules, asking "Okay. What's the What's the down side if I let him do it? downside? What does it do? It perpetuates? Does it extend anything?" (SDNA-R 3 45). Also, when these comments are coupled with the discourse at the November 15, 2002 hearing and the court's admission that the DNA testing was granted without regard to whether the results would exonerate Consalvo, it is clear the court was not requiring compliance with the Rule. The court admitted that the testing was granted "Well, because I made that decision a year ago that I was going to allow him to do it. To the extent and until it becomes an unreasonable request, and I don't see where the requests of have DNA done on the two items that were found in the household is in fact unreasonable."<sup>7</sup> (DNA-R.4 13). In fact, the court recalled that he ruled based on the Broward DNA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Initially it appears that the trial court was under the misimpression that Consalvo had asked for DNA testing only on the two cigarette butts found in the victim's toilet. This was immediately corrected by the parties who noted Consalvo was seeking testing of several hairs found in and around Pezza's body. (DNA-R.4 13-15).

program and was not considering Rule 3.853 at that time. (DNA-R.5 35). Given that Consalvo's postconviction motion had been denied by the time the initial testing proved unfruitful, and there was no motion pending when the appeal was filed, the trial court could require that Consalvo establish a need for further testing under the then existing Rule 3.853. Merely because the court believed that there was no need to comply with Rule 3.853 when the motion was granted initially, does not foreclose the court from revisiting the issue and requiring compliance with the law when the matter is presented at a later date. Consalvo has not been deprived of anything to which he was entitled.

Although not cited by Consalvo in his <u>Issue I</u>, <u>Knighten v.</u> <u>State</u>, 927 So.2d 239 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006) sheds light on the instant matter, and supports the State's position. In <u>Knighten</u>, the defendant filed a Rule 3.853 motion and the trial court denied it summarily finding it facially insufficient. <u>Id</u>. at 240. On appeal, the District Court reversed finding that the claim was pled sufficiently. <u>Id</u>. Subsequently, the trial court granted DNA testing, but as it turned out that the hair evidence was not suitable for STR-DNA testing. <u>Id</u>. When the defendant sought to compel mt-DNA testing, because there was in essence, no DNA testing done on those hairs, the trial court treated it as a successive motion and denied it summarily finding the motion was insufficiently pled and that there was statute or

rule requiring additional DNA testing. Id. Once again on appeal, the District Court found error with respect to the trial judge's conclusion that matter was insufficiently pled. The District Court held that its initial determination of sufficiency relieved the defendant of the burned of have to reprove/re-assert the Rule 3.853 pleadings in order to compel DNA testing. Id. Further, it distinguished King v. State, 808 So.2d 1237, 1249 (Fla. 2002), relied upon by the trial court, noting that in King, there had never been a finding of legal sufficiency at that trial or appellate level, thus, there had been no showing of a "reasonable probability" of an acquittal or lesser sentence and the trial court could summarily deny the testing request. Id. at 240-41. Continuing, the District Court reasoned that the lab had yet to accurately test the hair "since it only attempted STR DNA testing, for which the hairs were not suitable." Id. at 241. It was further determined that a trial court is not limited to only STR-DNA testing, especially where mt-DNA testing has been accepted judicially. Id.

By analogy then, Consalvo, who has yet to fully and properly plead his request for DNA testing, yet was granted DNA testing, has not obtained a ruling that his motion was legally sufficient or that he has shown a "reasonable probability" that the tests results would exonerate. Rather, he was granted a free opportunity to test the materials, and the trial court was

free to require Consalvo to comply with the rules when he asked for mt-DNA testing. As noted above, Consalvo has not been deprived of anything to which he was entitled. There has been no appellate court review on Consalvo's DNA request, nor a decision assessing the legal sufficiency of the motion. Based upon the factual and procedural posture of that case, it is clear that the instant trial court was permitted to revisit the need for DNA testing, and require compliance with Rule 3.853.

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